No. 45744-0-II
Lewis County Superior Court No. 12-1-00413-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RICK ALLEN RIFFE,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

The Honorable Richard L. Brosey, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Suzanne Lee Elliott
Attorney for Appellant
1300 Hoge Building
705 Second Avenue
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 623-0291

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in suggesting that Dr. Mark Reinitz was not qualified by experience or education. Finding of Fact Re: Expert Testimony 1.9; Conclusion of Law 2.4.
2. The trial court erred in finding that Dr. Reinitz “in his writing submitted to the court, shows a preconceived notice (sic) the memories are inherently faulty.” Finding of Fact Re: Expert Testimony 1.10.
3. The trial court erred in finding that the “subject matter of the proposed testimony of Dr. Mark Reinitz was covered in voir dire.” Finding of Fact Re: Expert Testimony 1.11.
4. The trial court erred in finding that “the subject matter of the proposed testimony of Dr. Mark Reinitz was covered in direct examination by the State.” Finding of Fact Re: Expert Testimony 1.12.
5. The trial court erred in finding that “the subject matter of the proposed testimony of Dr. Mark Reinitz was covered in cross-examination by the State.” Finding of Fact Re: Expert Testimony 1.14.
6. The trial court erred in concluding that “the proposed testimony of Dr. Mark Reinitz is not generally accepted in the scientific community.” Conclusion of Law 2.5.

7. The trial court erred in concluding that the proposed testimony of Dr. Reinitz is within the common knowledge of a juror of ordinary intelligence. Conclusions of Law 2.6, 2.8, 2.9.

8. The trial court erred in concluding that the proposed testimony of Dr. Reinitz would not be helpful to the jury. Conclusion of Law 2.7.

9. The trial court erred in concluding that Dr. Reinitz's proposed testimony would be a comment on the "veracity of witnesses, either directly or indirectly." Conclusion of Law 2.10.

10. The trial court erred in concluding that "the Erwin Bartlett matters were fully explored by all parties." Findings of Fact Re: Defendant's Motion to Dismiss/Disqualify 1.30.

11. The trial court erred in concluding that "any misconception the jury may have had regarding what, if any, consideration Mr. Bartlett obtained from the State to secure his testimony has been fully explained through the testimony of Mr. Bartlett and through the testimony of David Arcuri." Finding of Fact Re: Defendant's Motion to Dismiss/Disqualify 1.31.

12. The trial court erred in concluding that "it doesn't make sense to this court that defense counsel argued that he was unaware of the full scope of consideration when all documents were in Mr. Bartlett's

criminal case file in the Clerk's Office." Finding of Fact Re:

Defendant's Motion to Dismiss/Disqualify 1.34.

13. The trial court erred in holding that Ricky's smile and nod "adopted" otherwise inadmissible hearsay.

14. The trial erred in holding that Robin Riffe's statement "You mean the one where two old people were killed?" was admissible even though Ricky had no opportunity to cross-examine her.

15. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing arguments.

II.

ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The evidence in this case was primarily eyewitness identifications made 27 years after the commission of the crime. The prosecutor asked the witnesses about their level of confidence in their belated identifications. Many of the witnesses made or attempted to make identifications over the 27-year period. Under these circumstances, did the trial court violate Riffe's right to present a defense when he excluded the testimony of Dr. Mark Reinitz, an expert on scientific reasons why eyewitness identifications are frequently unreliable?

2. Where the trial prosecutor in this case negotiated a plea bargain for the jailhouse snitch, Irwin Bartlett, was present in court when Bartlett entered a plea that reduced Bartlett's exposure to punishment and where

the prosecutor failed to tell the Riffe about this plea bargain, did the prosecutor violate his duty under the mandate of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), when he failed to provide the defense with clearly exculpatory evidence before trial?

3. Where the prosecutor elicited Bartlett's statement that he did not receive any consideration for his testimony in this case and where the prosecutor had actual knowledge this was not true and failed to correct the falsity, did the prosecutor violate the due process clause?

4. Where witness Nonna Pierce gave two statements to the police in 1985 that directly conflicted with her trial testimony, and where she refused to acknowledge her prior statements, did the trial court err in failing to permit Riffe to impeach witness Nonna Pierce and in failing to admit as exhibits her prior statements?

5. Did the trial court err in admitting Robin Riffe's response to police questioning with the statement, "You mean the one where two old people were killed?" when the statements were admitted for their truth and where the witness was dead and, thus, not available for cross examination?

6. Did the trial court err in admitting two composite sketches when a primary eye witness who developed the sketches and the sketch artists were not available for cross examination?

7. Did the trial court err in admitting Riffe's smile and nod as an "adoptive admission?"

8. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct in closing argument when he misstated the law of accomplice liability when the State argued that Ricky Riffe could be guilty of premeditated murder as an accomplice without actual knowledge that his brother intended to murder the Maurins?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. THE MURDERS

Edward (Ed) and Wilhelmina (Minnie) Maurin, both in their 80's, were murdered on December 19 or 20th, 1985. Twenty-seven years later, the State charged Ricky Allen Riffe with two counts of first-degree murder, two counts of first-degree kidnapping, two counts of first-degree robbery, and one count of first-degree burglary in relationship to the Maurin murders.

The State also alleged that the crimes were committed against particularly vulnerable victims, with deliberate cruelty and with an egregious lack of remorse. Because the State believed that Riffe acted in concert with his deceased brother, John Gregory Riffe, the State alleged that Ricky was a principle or an accomplice. CP 1-7.

On December 19, 1985, Ed and Minnie Maurin planned to entertain friends at a Christmas luncheon. RP 44. When the guests arrived at the Maurin home, no one was present. RP 45. After members of the extended family¹ were notified, they proceeded to the home. RP 45-49. Family members noted that Minnie's purse was under some newspapers sitting beside a big overstuffed chair and a bank statement was open by the telephone. RP 48, 70. There was \$160 cash in the purse. RP 733. Another family member found a box containing bank statements on the bathroom floor. RP 72. There were three sets of plates and three sets of silverware in the dishwasher. RP 736. Sometime later, the police found \$2,100 cash in the house. RP 880.

The police were notified and a search began for the couple. Although the house had a broken window used for entry by family members over many years, there were no signs of forced entry. RP 139, 167, 340, 703. There was no sign of a struggle. RP 141.

On December 20, 1985, the Maurins' 1969 green Chrysler Newport was discovered in the Yardbird's shopping complex parking lot. RP 368. There were blood stains inside and the key was in the

¹ Minnie had been previously married to George Hadaller, who died in 1958. According to Minnie's son, Dennis Hadaller, there were 440 members of his extended family, 300 of whom lived in Lewis County. RP 147-48.

ignition. RP 375, 434-44. The police also found shotgun pellets in the vehicle. RP 380, 415.

Ed and Minnie's bodies were discovered on Christmas Eve in a wooded area on Stearns Road. RP 74, 550. Crime scene investigators opined that they had been shot with a "12 gauge shotgun that had a shortened barrel, much like ... a sawed-off shotgun." RP 483, 636-50. *See also*, Exhibits 689, 690.

B. THE INVESTIGATION

Lewis County law enforcement investigated immediately. They learned that Minnie's son, Dennis Hadaller, and grandson, Michael Hadaller, had driven by the Maurin residence at about 5:30 a.m. on the 19th. RP 91-92, 161-62. It was dark and foggy,² but they noticed a light on in Ed and Minnie's bedroom. RP 92-93, 162. According to them, this was an unusual hour for the couple to be awake. *Id.*

They also learned that Ed probably called Sterling Bank on the evening of December 18, 1985 about closing time to request withdrawal of a large sum of money. RP 1348-50. He called again between 9:30 and 10:00 a.m. on the morning of the 19th. He told the teller on duty,

² Nearly all of the witnesses agreed that December 19, 1985 was a very foggy day in Lewis County.

Pat Hull, that he wanted to come in and get \$8,500 in cash. RP 1345-51. They joked on the phone. RP 1382. Ed arrived at the bank about 10:30 a.m. When Hull asked about Minnie, Ed told her she was outside in the car because she was not feeling well. RP 1351.

. . . I asked about Minnie and I told him to go have her come in and have coffee and cookies, because that's what we usually did. He said, no, she didn't feel well and he would go ask her if she wanted to come back in so he went back out to the car.

RP 1351.

Ed also told Hull he would use the money to buy a car. RP 1350, 1353. He was calm and again joked with Hull. *Id.* The Maurins still had more than \$30,000 in another untouched account. RP 707.

Many people called in with tips. There were two groups of witnesses: those who saw the Maurins' car in and around Chehalis on the morning of the 19th and those who saw a man walking near Yardbirds carrying a gun. The times and locations varied and were often conflicting.

Merle Pickering and Rock Swartz reported seeing a white car pulling out of the Maurins' driveway about 9:30 a.m. on December 19, 1985. RP 907, 912. Lindsey Senter reported seeing two white males walking a mile from the Maurin home on the 19th about 8:00 to 9:00 a.m. RP 921-24.

Norman Laymon saw the Maurins driving up Highway 12 about 11:00 a.m. on the 19th. RP 966-977. He wasn't entirely sure about his description of the man he thought he saw with the Maurins:

A I don't remember telling him the description because I don't really know for sure.

Q You don't know for sure. Do you believe you gave them a description of the guy in the back?

A No.

Q Did you tell them that the guy in the back was a good sized person?

A Well, I thought so but best I could tell.

Q That he was wearing a khaki colored jacket?

A I thought so yes.

Q You told --

A I just assumed so.

Q Well, you assumed it but you also told the officer about 10 or 12 days later, didn't you?

A Something like that. Yeah, something like that.

RP 982-83.

Kenneth Paul saw three people in a car similar to the Maurins' on Bunker Creek Road. RP 1055-59. Virginia Cummings also saw a young man walking alone near Yardbirds. RP 1149-58. Steve Amoraso saw three people in a green car. RP 1085-88. There was a young man in the back seat with a partial beard. RP 1089.

William Reisinger observed the Maurins' car with a passenger in the back seat. RP 1274-78. Later, he saw the same car being driven by one person either with dark hair or wearing a dark stocking cap and gloves. RP 1279-82. Deanne and Jeff Scherer saw a green car in the Yardbird's parking lot about 9:00 a.m. RP 1309-12, 1315-17.

James Heminger saw a dark haired man wearing a stocking cap and green coat walking near Yardbirds carrying a gun. RP 1318-19, 1321-26. Similarly, Marjorie Hadaller saw a man walking near Yardbirds with a gun. RP 1337. Beverly Gestrine also observed a man in that area with a gun. RP 1622-46. *See also*, testimony of Yvonne Miller, 1930-1942.

Seventeen-year-old Jason Shriver and his mother were driving to a dentist appointment on the morning of December 19, 1985. RP 2267-68. The Shriver family lived in Mossyrock. They saw the Maurin vehicle on the road. RP 2268. When the sheriff came to the Shriver home on December 23, 1985 to talk to them about what happened to the Maurins, Shriver refused to talk to him:

A Sure. I was in bed the 23rd, when the sheriff came and I didn't want to talk to him.

Q You remember that, because you still weren't feeling well?

A I remember that, because my mom said the Sheriff's here, he wants to talk to you about what happened to the

Maurins. I said, I'm not talking to him. I told you not to say anything.

RP 2268. Shriver's mother was deceased by the time of trial.

Frank Perkins told the police that he pulled into a truck stop on December 19 about 8:30 to 9:30 a.m. While there, he saw a car with an older couple in the front seat and a "younger fellow sitting between the two in the backseat." RP 997. The person in the back was white, in his 20's with a dishwater blond beard. RP 997, 1036. He was wearing a stocking cap and military fatigue jacket or old army jacket. RP 998. Later that day, Perkins drove by Yardbirds. RP 1003. He stated that the man was carrying a small caliber rifle or a small bore shotgun. RP 1023, 1036. He told the police two or three times he could not identify the face of the young person in the backseat because he only got a glimpse of him. RP 1027.

On December 26, 1985, Officer William Forth reported that he believed that he had seen the Maurin vehicle being driven into Chehalis at 11:10 a.m. RP 1217. There was only one person in the car. He told his fellow officers he saw only three inches of the back of the driver's neck. RP 1226. He never saw that person look into the rearview mirror. He followed the vehicle into town but never stopped it. RP 1178.

Detective Frank Bennett contacted Nonna Pierce, the Maurins' neighbor, on December 20, 1985. In her recorded statement she said she saw headlights at the Maurin home on the morning of December 19, 1985. RP 212, 218. Defendant's Ex. 696: marked for identification on 12/20/85.

On December 22, 1985, Pierce called back and said she needed to report something that happened "two weeks prior." According to the police report:

She stated that the subject in a older red Ford pickup followed her home. She stated that the subject came to her door, knocked on the door, and asked if husband was home.

She described the person as 6', 30 years plus, 170-75 lbs, dark brown hair, mustache, blue jeans, plaid shirt, and a blue jean jacket.

Defendant's Exhibit 697.

Detective Glade Austin learned that Sheri Amell and Mary Jones were potential witnesses. Amell told Austin that on December 19, 1985, she and Jones were on their lunch break at about noon. RP 1676. They were about to enter the Yardbirds parking lot when she saw a man walk out from behind some "containers" carrying a gun. RP 1676. She described the man as 27 or 28 years old, about 5'10", thin, about 140 lbs. RP 1682. He was wearing a green army jacket and a stocking cap. *Id.* He was white, with dark hair, a mustache, and "two or three days

growth beard.” RP 1683, 1713. She and Jones were shown montages, but neither could identify the person they saw. RP 792.³

The investigators took taped statements from both women.⁴ The police took Amell and Jones to Portland that same day. RP 756-57. The two women gave information to a police officer/forensic artist named Boulin, who produced a “composite” sketch. RP 756-57. This composite sketch was widely distributed on December 24, 1985. RP 762-63.

Later, Amell and Jones were taken to a second sketch artist in Seattle. RP 1694. Detective Austin explained that the police did this because “Sheri Amell in particular mentioned she wasn’t entirely happy with the first one.” RP 794.

On January 6, 1988, Gordon Campbell went to the Lewis County police and told them about his observations in the Yardbirds parking lot around December 19, 1985. RP 4636-37, 4660. He could not remember the date, but he reported that about two years earlier he had seen a man walking near Yardbirds carrying a weapon. RP 4638, 4668. He could not identify anyone from the montages presented to him. RP 4642,

³ According to Kimsey, the records prepared before 2005 did not make it clear what pictures or montages were shown to potential witnesses. RP 3523-24.

⁴ By the time of trial, Mary Jones had died.

4675. He confirmed that statement with Detective Kimsey in June, 2012. RP 4642.

In sum, people had seen the Maurins in their car with one or two other people. The general description of the person seen near the Yardbirds parking lot was a white male under 30 wearing a green army coat, and a stocking cap. RP 3465. This person had a two to three day growth of beard. RP 3465. But on Christmas Day 1985, Ricky Riffe had a full beard. RP 1820-21, 3507; Exhibit 887.

For years, Hadaller family members believed that Ricky and John Gregory Riffe were responsible for the murders. RP 104-05. Dennis Hadaller obtained updated photos of the brothers and he gave them to law enforcement officers. RP 188-90. Both Riffe brothers were well known in their home town of Mossyrock. RP 2367. One State's witness said that Mossyrock gossip had identified the Riffe brothers as potential suspects for years. RP 2382-83.

In 1991, Lewis County deputies received a tip they should contact Robin Riffe, Ricky's ex-wife. She was dead by the time of trial, so the defense moved to exclude any of her conversations or actions with the police. After considerable argument, the judge decided that Deputy David Neiser could testify to one thing: when he called Robin and introduced himself, he told her he wanted to talk about an "old

homicide.” RP 1494. She replied: “You mean the one where two old people were killed?” *Id.* The judge ruled: “The statement on the phone can come in, because that's not hearsay.” RP 1480.

The police knew that Ricky had access to a sawed-off shotgun in 1984-85. RP 1777, 1902. His friend, Les George, had purchased the gun on October 3, 1984, to put in his long haul truck for protection. RP 2065-70. He gave it to Ricky to cut down. RP 2071-72. But Ricky returned it in the fall of 1985. RP 2148. Les's mother testified that later found the shotgun in Les's room and told her husband Richard to get rid of it. RP 2404. But her husband, Richard, said that at some point, local police talked him about the homicides. RP 2433-34. So Zandeki wanted to “get rid of it.” RP 2433. He threw the gun off the Mayfield Lake Bridge. RP 2426-27. It was never recovered.

Neither John Gregory nor Ricky Riffe was arrested and there were no solid leads from the official investigation. RP 813-14. Dennis Hadaller, became frustrated with the investigation. RP 176. He said that at his mother's funeral: “I laid my hand on her casket and I said, mom, I'll find out who did this to you and Ed and until the day I die I will keep this up.” RP 178. Sometime around 2000 he hired two private investigators to look into the case. RP 181. He received monthly reports from them. RP 182.

In 2005, Lewis County Detective Kimsey was assigned to the case. RP 3229. He began re-interviewing witnesses and developed the theory that at Christmas 1985, Ricky appeared to have more money than usual (RP 1794-96, 1830-43, 2690-93, 2855-2871), and that he and Robin engaged in a large purchase of drugs.⁵ RP 2816-52.

As discussed below, after speaking with Kimsey, several witnesses changed their statements and for the first time in 27 years, identified pictures of Ricky Riffe and his brother John Gregory Riffe, as being the person in the Maurins' car or the person walking along the road near Yardbirds. John Gregory died shortly before Ricky was arrested. The media reported Ricky's arrest in the summer of 2012 and published pictures of the brothers. At that point, additional witnesses appeared.

C. THE TRIAL

No evidence recovered from the home or the vehicle was ever tied to the Riffe brothers. RP 690-91. The State even subjected some items to updated DNA testing. The State's case was based exclusively on various eyewitness identifications made from montage photos or the

⁵ It was undisputed that in the 1980's Ricky, Robin and Greg used drugs. *See, e.g.*, RP 2036-50, 2733-34.

composite sketches and the testimony of a jailhouse snitch, Erwin Bartlett.

Nonna Pierce changed her story. She acknowledged that she had been interviewed by the police on December 20, 1985. RP 212. She repeated that on the morning of December 19, 1985, it was foggy. RP 215. The fog was thick and dense. *Id.* But she heard voices and observed headlights coming from the direction of the Maurin home. RP 217-18. She heard no sounds of distress. RP 241-42.

However, she changed her statement concerning the stranger who had appeared at her door. She now stated the man had knocked on her door on December 18, 1985 – not two weeks before the murders. RP 223. She described him as “probably 5-foot-9” and in his “mid to late 20’s” with a medium build and dark hair, and wearing jeans and a blue jean jacket. RP 228-29, 255.

Kimsey showed Pierce a photomontage. Over Ricky Riffe’s picture, someone wrote: “Looks most like the person you saw on December 18, 1985.” Someone dated the picture “6-12-2012” and Nonna Pierce initialed it, “N.P.” RP 231-34; Exhibit 189.

At trial the prosecutor asked:

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