No. 45744-0-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

RICKY ALLEN RIFFE,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

Respondent's Brief

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

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

prosecutor did not commit prosecutorial error in his closing argument. If any error occurred it is harmless, as there was no objection and a curative instruction would have fixed the alleged error.

1. Standard Of Review.

The standard for review of claims of prosecutorial error is abuse of discretion. *State v. Ish*, 170 Wn.2d 189, 195, 241 P.3d 389 (2010).

2. The Deputy Prosecutor Did Not Commit Error When Discussing Accomplice Liability During His Closing Argument.

A claim of prosecutorial error is waived if trial counsel failed to object and a curative instruction would have eliminated the prejudice. *State v. Belgrade*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). "[F]ailure to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of error unless the remark is so flagrant and ill intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by admonition to the jury." *State v. Thorgerson*, 152 Wn.2d 438, 443, 258 P.3d 43 (2011), *citing State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (additional citations omitted).

To prove prosecutorial error, it is the defendant's burden to show that the deputy prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and the circumstances at trial. State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 809, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), citing State v. Kwan Fai Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 726, 718 P.2d 407 (1986); State v. Hughes, 118 Wn. App. 713, 727, 77 P.3d 681 (2003). In regards to a prosecutor's conduct, full trial context includes, "the evidence presented, 'the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011), citing State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (other internal citations omitted). A comment is prejudicial when "there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict." State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1007(1998).

"[A] prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and may freely comment on witness credibility based on the evidence." *State v. Lewis*, 156 Wn. App. 230, 240, 233 P.3d 891 (2010), *citing Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d at 860. That wide latitude is especially true when the

prosecutor, in rebuttal, is addressing an issue raised by a defendant's attorney in closing argument. *Id.* (citation omitted).

A prosecutor commits prosecutorial error when he or she shifts the burden of proof onto the accused. *State v. Walker*, 164 Wn. App. 724, 732, 265 P.3d 191 (2011). A prosecutor may commit error during closing argument by minimizing or misstating the law regarding the burden of proof. *State v. Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. 677, 685, 243 P.3d 936 (2010), *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1013 (2011).

a. Accomplice liability in Riffe's case.

For a person to be an accomplice to a crime they must solicit, command, request, or encourage another to commit the crime, or aid or agree to another person in planning or committing the crime. RCW 9A.08.020; WPIC 10.51; CP 1007. Rick was charged with Murder in the First Degree, which required the State to prove that with premeditated intent he, acting alone or as an accomplice, caused the death of Ed and Minnie. RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a); CP 62-63. The State also requested, and was granted, a lesser included jury instruction for Murder in the Second Degree, also known as felony murder. RP 3949, 3954; CP 1008-12. To prove a person has committed Murder in the Second Degree the State was required to prove Rick committed "Kidnapping in the First"

Degree and/or Robbery in the First Degree and/or Burglary in the First Degree and in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight from such a crime he or an accomplice causes the death of a person other than one of the participants." CP 1010; RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b); WPIC 27.03.

b. The deputy prosecutor argued the correct accomplice liability standard.

Rick argues the deputy prosecutor erred when he explained accomplice liability during his closing argument, thereby minimizing the burden of the proof required to hold Rick accountable under an accomplice liability standard. Brief of Appellant 60-63. Rick argues this error was flagrant and repeated. *Id.* 61-62. Rick supports this contention by citing a single statement from a 207 page long argument. *Id.* 61-63. There were no repeated misstatements of the law and no prosecutorial error.

First, the deputy prosecutor did not misstate the law on accomplice liability. The only statement cited by Rick in his brief as objectionable was in the beginning of the State's closing argument.

Now, during voir dire we talked about some of these concepts. This was six weeks ago. I'm hoping some of you will remember this, but we talked about accomplice and the example I gave was the first one, the bank robber and the driver. That's an example of somebody who's an accomplice. You are the driver. You know somebody is going to go rob the bank, you

are sitting outside, you never go inside the bank, but you are sitting outside and you got the engine started and you are ready to go. Guy runs out, oops, you didn't know it, but when he was in the bank he shot five people. Guess what? You are on the hook.

Another example, a drive-by shooting with multiple passengers, happens all the time. We hear about it all the time on the news in Seattle, Tacoma, the bigger cities. Drive-by shooting, a car is loaded with people. Drive-by shooting, somebody on the sidewalk gets shot. Guess what? If the people inside knew about it and were involved in it, even though they didn't pull the trigger, they are guilty as well.

Now, an assault, another example of this can be elicited by two guys beating up another guy. One guy holding him, the other guy is pounding on him. Clearly the guy hitting him is going to be guilty. What about the guy holding him? He's not doing anything, he's just standing there. He's aiding. He would be guilty as well.

The reason I bring these up is because all of you I asked, not individually, some of you I did, all of you said you didn't have a problem with that concept, whether someone was an accomplice you would hold them responsible, if the fact the State proved they're an accomplice.

So getting to the facts of this case, the reason I bring this up is because in the end it doesn't really matter who shot the Maurins. We all want to know, but all we have to do is prove that they were coconspirators, accomplices involved, so the question for you as I go through this is, when does Rick the defendant or John the dead would-be defendant, when do they both become accomplices? I'll point it out for you.

RP 4027-28. Rick's complaint is based upon the bank robbery scenario, or as he argues the "in for a dime in for a dollar" notion of

accomplice liability, citing to *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d 568, 14 P.3d 752 (2000) and *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 14 P.3d 713 (2000). Rick argues the deputy prosecutor repeatedly and flagrantly argued that the State need only show one of the brothers committed the murder and no one needed to determine who was the primary and who was the accomplice as long as Rick and Greg committed any act in concert, they would both be guilty of murder. Brief of Appellant 61. This is a grossly inaccurate portrayal of the State's closing argument.

For whatever reason Rick's appellate counsel chose to only cite to one instance of this alleged misconduct. The State does acknowledge appellate counsel cited to more of the State's closing argument in the Statement of the Case. Brief of Appellant 40-43. In the Statement of the Case appellate counsel cherry picks seven different statements by the deputy prosecutor, many which are of snippets of arguments and without the context that surrounded the argument. *Id.* These seven statements are encompassed on nine pages of the 207 pages of closing and rebuttal closing arguments. RP 4014-170, 4287-339.

The deputy prosecutor's closing was preceded by 24 days of trial and the reading of the jury instructions, which contain the

appropriate jury instruction for accomplice liability. RP 3979-80; CP 1007 (WPIC 10.51). The deputy prosecutor told the jury the correct standard for accomplice liability. RP 4025-27. The bank example is an example of Murder in the Second Degree, under an accomplice liability theory and the other two examples are examples of accomplice liability generally. RCW 9A.08.020; RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b); RP 4025-27. To argue that the deputy prosecutor repeatedly made improper statements orally and in his power point without citing to them leads the State to wonder where exactly all this flagrant misconduct is. See Brief of Appellant 61-63.

The State's theory of this case was always that Rick and Greg had planned and executed these heinous crimes together and it was Ricky who was the actual trigger man. See 4044, 4133, 4166-67, 4290, 4292, 4314-15. From the brothers discussing their precarious money situation with Les George, to talking about killing someone after forcing them to go to the bank, to walking down highway 12 together, being in the Maurin vehicle together, and discarding and wiping down the Maurin vehicle together, Rick and Greg committed these crimes together. 921-25, 938-39, 2200-10, 2075-77, 4643-48, 4655-56. This is what the deputy prosecutor weaved throughout his closing argument. It is disingenuous to take

snippets of a large argument out of context. Did the deputy prosecutor state that the two brothers became accomplices in the murder when they were seen by Jason Shriver? RP 4058. Yes, he does, but it is in the context of a larger argument, which was at that point, there is no going back, they discussed at the party the plan they had hatched, they have been seen by someone who knows them both and now the Maurins are definitely going to die. RP 4058-59. There is no prosecutorial error.

3. If There Was Error, It Was Not Flagrant.

While not conceding error, if the deputy prosecutor misstated the law on accomplice liability in regards to Murder in the First Degree, there was no objection, and the misstatement was followed by two correct statements regarding accomplice liability, therefore, Rick has not met his burden to show the deputy acted flagrantly or that he was prejudiced in any way. Rick incorrectly asserts that there was no evidence that Greg acted with premeditation or that Rick knew Greg planned to kill the Maurins, and therefore any misstatements by the deputy prosecutor regarding the necessity for Rick to be an accomplice to Murder in the Frist Degree was prejudicial. Brief of Appellant 61-62. The evidence, as argued above, was that Rick planned in advance of that morning to kill the

Maurins, but both brothers acted together to kidnap, rob, and then kill Ed and Minnie. They had been seen by Jason, they could leave no witnesses, forced Ed to drive up that logging road, knowing they were going to kill him and Minnie, and when Ed refused to get out of the car Rick struck him in the head before shooting him. RP 2895, 2898, 3615. The deputy prosecutor's statements are not flagrant and ill-intentioned and within the context of the entire record Rick cannot show he was prejudiced by any alleged misstatement, therefore, there is no prosecutorial error and Rick's convictions should be affirmed.

D. RIFFE DID NOT OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF THE COMPOSITE SKETCHES AND THEREFORE HAS WAIVED RAISING THE ISSUE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

Rick raises the issue, for the first time on appeal, that the two composite sketches, exhibits 113 and 206, were improperly admitted into evidence. Brief of Appellant 63-67. Rick argues that composites should never be admissible as they are suggestive, hearsay and violate the confrontation clause. Brief of Appellant 64-66. Rick fails to acknowledge that he did not object to the admission of the composite sketches and does not explain how this issue is reviewable for the first time on appeal. Rick waived this claim by his failure to object and this Court should decline to

entertain his argument regarding the inadmissibility of the composite sketches. See State v. Smith, 155 Wn.2d 496, 501, 120 P.3d 559 (2005) (failure to raise hearsay objection below waives it on appeal).

1. Standard Of Review

A claim of a manifest constitutional error is reviewed de novo. *State v. Edwards*, 169 Wn. App. 561, 566, 280 P.3d 1152 (2012).

2. The Admission Of The Composite Sketches, Without Objection From Riffe's Trial Counsel, Is Not A Manifest Constitutional Error And Therefore, It Cannot Be Raised For The First Time On Appeal.

An appellate court generally will not consider an issue that a party raises for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 97-98; *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The origins of this rule come from the principle that it is the obligation of trial counsel to seek a remedy for errors as they arise. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 98. The exception to this rule is "when the claimed error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." *Id., citing* RAP 2.5(a). There is a two part test in determining whether the assigned error may be raised for the first time on appeal, "an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is

manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension." *Id.* (*citations omitted*).

The reviewing court analyzes the alleged error and does not assume it is of constitutional magnitude. *Id.* The alleged error must be assessed to make a determination of whether a constitutional interest is implicated. *Id.* If an alleged error is found to be of constitutional magnitude the reviewing court must then determine whether the alleged error is manifest. *Id.* at 99; *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. An error is manifest if the appellant can show actual prejudice. *O'Hara* 167 Wn.2d at 99. The appellant must show that the alleged error had an identifiable and practical consequence in the trial. *Id.* There must be a sufficient record for the reviewing court to determine the merits of the alleged error. *Id.* (citations omitted). No prejudice is shown if the necessary facts to adjudicate the alleged error are not part of the record on appeal. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. Without prejudice the error is not manifest. *Id.*

Failure to object to the admissibility of evidence at trial precludes appellate review unless the error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *State v. Ehrhardt,* 167 Wn. App. 934, 941, 276 P.3d 332 (2012), citing *State v. Florczak*, 76 Wn. App. 55, 72, 882 P.2d 199 (1994). Rick fails to acknowledge he did not

object to the evidence, let alone that he must meet this standard to raise the issue for the first time on appeal. Brief of Appellant 63-67. Rick argues this Court should adopt New York's standard that composite sketches are never admissible with the exception for impeachment. Brief of Appellant 64-65. Rick argues the sketches were created by Ms. Amell and Ms. Jones and at a minimum Rick's right to confrontation was violated when the composite sketches were entered because without both women to testify the composite is based upon hearsay. Brief of Appellant 66.

There was no objection raised when the composite sketches were admitted into evidence. RP 1691, 1695; Ex. 113, 206. When the State initially sought to admit Exhibit 113 through Glade Austin there was an objection tendered by Rick's trial counsel. RP 758-59. At that point trial counsel did raise a hearsay objection, stating the sketch artist and Ms. Amell should need to be required to testify to satisfy any hearsay objection. RP 759-60. After some discussion regarding the matter trial counsel states, "We are - - it is basically I think a proforma [sic] type objection we're making. I believe Sheri

-

¹⁹ To support this argument Appellate counsel discusses the two composites in Rick's case, stating they look nothing alike and explaining how the sketches were created. Once again there are no citations to the trial record to support these statements with the exception of giving the exhibit numbers for the composite sketches, 113 and 206. This failure to accurately cite to the record "places an unacceptable burden on opposing counsel and on this court." *Lawson v. Boeing Co.*, 58 Wn. App. 261, 271, 792 P.2d 545 (1990).

Amell is going to testify later. We need to make our objection that this exhibit can only be admitted, if the witness later testifies at trial." RP 761. This initial objection was waived when trial counsel stated, "[n]o objection" when the State later sought to have Exhibits 113 and 206 admitted into evidence. RP 1691, 1695.

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